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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Osceola County Courthouse is constructed of load bearing brick in 
common bond. The three story structure is a T-plan with a portico attached 
to the crossing element in the plan. A pedimented parapet on three ele­ 
vations reflects the pitch of the intersecting ridge roof of painted tin 
with standing ridges. Corbeled brick chimneys penetrate the cornice of 
the roof at four irregular' intervals on the north and south. Two turbine 
ventilators project from the ridge line. The cornice is brick and is 
supported by corbels which are also of brick. The brickwork in the building 
is of "Georgia handburned pressed facing brick"with flush joints of red 
mortar. All.of the .contrasting elements on the exterior walls and openings 
are made 6£ Porilafrd! cement (Mi'seellaneous Record Book A, p. 412). These 
details include the string courses above the ground floor and first floor; 
quoins on the ground floor; extrados, plinths and imports on the arches; 
sills and heads in the windows; steps; and copings on the parapets.

The main facade (east) is composed of a central portico flanked by 
bays of paired four-over-four double hung sash windows. Rusticated 
segmental arches of Portland cement form the heads of each window on 
this facade and throughout the structure. Dominating this elevation is 
the portico and tower. This element is reached by massive concrete 
steps which rise to the first floor level. At the top of the steps is a 
colonade of round arches with the contrasting cement elements mentioned 
above. At the second level above the concrete beltcourse the colonade 
is repeated and the openings between the piers of the arches contain a 
brick balustrade which has a concrete coping supported by tapered brick 
balusters which form diamond-shaped openings. At the first story level 
behind the colonade is the main entrance which is composed of a large 
rusticated segmental arch of concrete over double aluminum and glass 
doors with transom and sidelights. The opening is flanked by single 
windows of the same form as the others in the building. At the second 
level and behind the colonade is an entrance similar to the first level 
but with paired wood panel doors.

Rising above the portico is a brick and wood square and octagonal 
tower. The ogee-shaped, octagonal roof of the tower has "Walker patent 
metallic shingles" which are painted. Below the roof is a wood, dentiled 
cornice and architrave supported by round, Tuscan mode piers. Below this 
octagonal cupola is a square brick tower with a br;Lck cornice supported 
by squared, brick corbels. r ^,,. ^ ' ^ ,,'..

The north facade is composed of'14'bays'witn regular fenestration 
except for changes in rhythm' at t either end. At the east end of the 
facade an arm of the cross projects from the building. This wing has 
three windows on both the ground and first floors with two windows 
centered on the second floor. A single window is offset from the others 
at the west end of the facade on all three levels. The fenestration is 
interrupted at the center by an entrance which has a rusticated round 
arch over a single aluminum and glass door with sidelights and fanlight.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Osceola County Courthouse is probably the oldest courthouse in 
Florida to be used continuously to house county governmental functions while 
retaining its architectural integrity. 1 It is indicative of the Romanesque 
Revival brick courthouses constructed all over the United States during 
the late 19th century and is one of four remaining in the state. 2

Since its completion in 1890, the building has been the center of 
governmental activities in the county and has served as a landmark and 
symbol of the basic political unit of Florida—the county—much as the 
meeting house was and is a political symbol to New Englanders. The 
building has been in continuous use by the county and has housed the 
courts, county records, offices and meetings of the various elected 
and appointed governmental bodies, law enforcement activities, and all 
other activities for which the county is responsible.

The courthouse is a very good example of the Romanesque Revival 
influence in the design of public buildings during the late 19th century. 
While the roofline is more classical in appearance, the remainder of the 
structure is Romanesque in feeling as is the case in many of the designs 
influenced by Richardson. The most obvious Romanesque elements are the 
segmental arches above the windows, the round arches on the portico and 
above the doors, and the tower above the entrance.

In May of 1888, the Board of County Commissioners obtained a lot 
from David B. Stewart for the purpose of erecting a courthouse on the 
property (Deed Book A, p. 269). The following August the Board accepted 
the plans and specifications for the proposed courthouse from a local 
architect and builder, F.C. Johnson (Miscellaneous Record Book A, 
pp. 410-423).3 An election in April 'of 1889 authorized the county commis­ 
sioners to issue bonds for the construction of the new courthouse, and on 
June 10, 1889,, the r contract was let _tp P.ierce & Torrey Investment Company 
for the erection' 5f 'tn<5 'building'.* ^Th£' new'benter of government in Osceola 
County was completed and,accepted by the Board of County Commissioners on 
May 6, l'890 (Minute Book 1, pp. 92, 98, 99, 133).

The Leon County Courthouse (1883) has a much earlier history than the 
Osceola County Courthouse, however, it is totally unrecognizable today since 
it has been incorporated into a new structure. There are none earlier than 
the Osceola County Courthouse except for a few which have ceased to be 
used as government buildings such as the Old Manatee County Courthouse 
(1852) which is on the National Register.
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A large brick and concrete stair ascends to the first story location of 
this entrance. A number of windows on the ground floor have been 
bricked in or replaced with awning-type windows or altered to accomodate 
a door.

The west facade is very simple, having a pedimented parapet over 
a three bay fenestration. A stair, similar to the one on the north, 
rises to an entrance which repeats the main one on the east. This is 
flanked by a single window opening on all levels. At the second level 
above the entrance are paired window openings. A jalousie door has 
replaced the window at the north end of the facade.

There is no doubt that the south facade repeated the north 
identically, however, an incompatible jail annex was attached in the 
1960s to this facade. While the second level has remained intact, the 
ground and first stories are completely lost. The new addition is 
brick with a flat roof. It has an irregular fenestration of aluminum 
awning windows with standard aluminum openings. Although incompatible, 
this annex does not dominate the major portion of the structure, thus, 
the basic integrity of the courthouse has been preserved.

The interior is composed of three floors with office and storage 
areas on the first two and a large courtroom and anteroom on the third. 
The interior has been changed by dropping the ceilings. The curley 
pine wood trim on the Queen Anne door frames, the stairway, and the 
wainscot has been completely stripped and returned to a natural finish.

In short, this brick building is a very well preserved structure 
with very few radical changes to its original character. It remains 
one of the better examples of late 19th century public architecture 
in Florida.
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other three remaining examples are the Nassau County Courthouse, 
the Bradford County Courthouse and the Calhoun County Courthouse.

See copies of specifications enclosed.
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